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A. INTRODUCTION 

1  Mr. Morris, these are my written reasons explaining why I gave you the sentence that I did. I also know 

that my reasons must explain the sentence to the Crown, and perhaps most importantly, to the public. 

Before I begin, I will be frank. I know that some may accuse me of being soft on crime. On gun crime. I 

do not believe that is so. Let me explain. 

2  A jury found you guilty of a number of offences. I convicted you of possession of an unauthorized 

firearm, possession of a prohibited firearm with ammunition, and carrying a concealed weapon. The jury 

acquitted you of assaulting a peace officer with intent to resist arrest. 

3  The basic facts of your crime are straightforward. On December 13, 2014, the police received a call 

about a home invasion in Scarborough. As the police officers sent to investigate drove to the scene, they 

came upon four Black males walking in the parking lot. The officers were in plainclothes and drove 

unmarked police cars. One officer stopped the young men. You were one of them. You ran. As you ran, 

D.C. Moorcroft, who was not the officer who stopped you but was also driving into the lot, accelerated to 

stop you. There was a collision between you and his car. Your foot was run over. Still, you were able to 

get up and continue running. You jumped over a fence into the parking lot of a shopping mall. There, 

uniformed officers responding to the call saw you. From a distance, they saw you duck into a shadowy 

area outside of a large grocery store. Moments later, they saw you come back up without the jacket you 

had been wearing. A uniformed officer gave chase on foot and eventually caught you. The area where you 

had disappeared from view was a small stairwell that went down towards a locked door. It appeared 

unused due to the garbage found at the bottom of the stairwell. Your jacket was found there in a small 

pool of water. In the jacket was a loaded revolver. 

4  The jury found you guilty of these facts. 

5  At this point, I should also add that prior to your trial, you brought a Charter application to stay the 

charges. I did not. But I did find some Charter violations. These are relevant to your sentencing. I will 

return to this issue later in my reasons. 

6  I must now sentence you for your offences. Let me go over what the Crown and your defence lawyers 

said should be the sentence. These positions were pretty far apart. The Crown asked for 4 to 4.5 years in 

jail. Your lawyers argued that the sentence should be 1 year before credit was given for the Charter 

breaches. 

7  The Crown and your lawyers also asked me to take very different approaches to your sentencing. Your 

lawyers asked me to take an approach that takes into account the problem we have in the unfair and 

disproportionate jailing of Black offenders. This is what I did in a case I decided in April of this year. The 

case is R. v. Jackson, [2018] O.J. No. 2136; 2018 ONSC 2527. The Crown did not expressly disagree 

https://advance.lexis.com/document/?pdmfid=1505209&crid=e019480b-1e1c-437f-a6a0-c96b2a5e9578&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases-ca%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A5T82-1W61-K0HK-22KX-00000-00&pddocid=urn%3AcontentItem%3A5T82-1W61-K0HK-22KX-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=280717&pdshepid=urn%3AcontentItem%3A5T8C-5XJ1-FBV7-B143-00000-00&pdteaserkey=sr2&pdicsfeatureid=1517129&pditab=allpods&ecomp=5yLg&earg=sr2&prid=08080dd4-dd8f-4087-957a-2d13215cffc9
https://advance.lexis.com/document/?pdmfid=1505209&crid=e019480b-1e1c-437f-a6a0-c96b2a5e9578&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases-ca%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A5T82-1W61-K0HK-22KX-00000-00&pddocid=urn%3AcontentItem%3A5T82-1W61-K0HK-22KX-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=280717&pdshepid=urn%3AcontentItem%3A5T8C-5XJ1-FBV7-B143-00000-00&pdteaserkey=sr2&pdicsfeatureid=1517129&pditab=allpods&ecomp=5yLg&earg=sr2&prid=08080dd4-dd8f-4087-957a-2d13215cffc9
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with this approach, but argued that the principles of sentencing as traditionally applied supported her 

position on sentence. 

8  I sentenced you to 15 months in jail. After considering the effect of the Charter breaches, I reduced that 

sentence to 1 year. I did the same analysis for you as I did for Mr. Jackson. 

9  Let me briefly explain to you what I did in Jackson. I began my judgment in that case by saying 

sentencing is a very individual process. The criminal law has recognized that there are cases where, in 

order to determine a fit and proportionate sentence, consideration must be given to an individual's 

systemic and social circumstances. These circumstances may extend beyond a person who is being 

sentenced to include factors such a systemic discrimination and historical injustice. This has been 

recognized by the criminal courts, particularly in the case of Indigenous offenders. While the distinct 

history of colonial violence endured by Indigenous peoples cannot simply be analogized to Black 

Canadians, I found that the ability to consider social context in a sentencing decision is extended to all 

under section 718.2(e) of the Criminal Code. This allowed me to consider the unique social history of 

Black Canadians in sentencing Mr. Jackson. Mr. Jackson was a Black male offender not too much older 

than you, who pleaded guilty to a charge of possession of a prohibited gun. His lawyers presented a great 

deal of evidence to me on systemic anti-Black racism and its role in Mr. Jackson's life. I took note of this 

evidence. I also took judicial notice, independently of these materials, of the history of colonialism, 

slavery, policies and practices of segregation, intergenerational trauma, and both overt and systemic 

racism that continue to affect Black Canadians today. With an understanding of these social factors I was 

able to better appreciate the circumstances that led Mr. Jackson to come before me. I sentenced him 

accordingly. 

10  This approach led to a result that I suspect Mr. Jackson was not pleased with. I sentenced him to 6 

years for his first possession of a loaded handgun, which is a very long time. But the Crown was asking 

for more. The evidence and the approach in his case moved the needle to a lower sentence. But not as low 

as he wanted. For you see, it was not really his first gun charge. He had been convicted of prior robberies 

using guns. His case was different from yours. He is different from you. As these reasons will show. 

11  At the moment, Mr. Morris, you are in jail. You have spent some 500 days in jail. You are detained on 

these charges. You were released on bail, but new charges brought you back into jail. Your sentencing 

was delayed for a number of reasons. This was the reason why I sentenced you on July 19 with these 

written reasons to follow. It would not have been fair for you to wait any longer for my decision. 

12  Before I get to that, I need to explain why I admitted two reports you presented to me at this 

sentencing hearing. The Crown took objection to their admission and how they would be used by me. I 

need to explain that in this decision as well. 

 

B. THE ADMISSION OF THE DEFENCE REPORTS 

13  The defence gave me two reports. One deals with anti-Black racism in Canadian society. The other 

deals with your social history. 

14  These reports are written by Professor Akwasi Owusu-Bempah, Ms. Camisha Sibblis, and Professor 

Carl James. They are all very qualified academics and experts in their field. 

15  Professor James is the Jean Augustine Chair in Education, Community, and Diaspora at York 

University and a Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada. He has a Ph.D. in sociology. He has been an 

assistant professor at York University since 1993 and a full professor since 2003, in Education, 

Sociology, and Social Work departments at various times in his career. He has held various administrative 

posts and has received many awards and honors. He has been involved in the authorship or editing of 

nearly 20 books, 64 chapters of books, and 37 articles in peer reviewed articles. He has given countless 

conference presentations, received many grants, and is a sought after person in the media. His C.V. is 
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thick. It is impressive. He is an expert in the experiences of racialized young people, particularly with 

regards to the effects of racialization and racism on the lives of young Black people. 

16  Professor Owusu-Bempah was more recently appointed in 2016 as an assistant professor in the 

Department of Sociology at the University of Toronto. However, he has also been a professor at Indiana 

University in the United States where he was in the Department of Criminal Justice and the Department 

of African American and African Diaspora Studies. His Ph.D. is in Criminology and Socio-legal Studies. 

His Master's degree is in Criminology as well. He has written articles on race, policing, crime, and the 

criminal justice system. His academic credentials are also impressive. 

17  Camisha Sibblis has a Master's Degree in Social Work and is a Ph.D. candidate at York University. 

The dissertation for her doctorate is about the effects of expulsion programs on Black male identity and 

trajectory. She has a post-graduate certification in therapy. She has published articles in both refereed 

publications and other publications about racism, education, and Black youth. She has taught at 

universities and colleges. She has clinical experience in schools, Children's Aid Societies, and the Office 

of the Children's Lawyer. 

18  The three have co-authored both reports given to me at this sentencing. However, Ms. Sibblis was the 

primary author of the "Social History of Mr. Morris", although Professors James and Owusu-Bempah 

reviewed and agreed with it. Let me now deal with the contents of the reports and their admissibility. 

 

Report # 1: "Expert Report on Crime, Criminal Justice and the Experience of Black Canadians in 

Toronto, Ontario." 

19  The defence asked the authors of this report to outline and analyze the research relating to the 

existence and impact of anti-Black racism in Canadian society in general and the Toronto region in 

particular. The aim of the report was to help me understand the conditions under which many Black 

people reside, receive education and employment, experience crime and the criminal justice system, and 

suffer from various forms of discrimination. Along with the "Social History of Mr. Morris", it was 

designed to help me understand the social conditions and context that may have led to your involvement 

in the offences. 

20  The Crown objected to the admissibility of this report at this sentencing hearing. The core of her 

objection is that it was not necessary. She argued that the law has now long taken notice of these sorts of 

things. Experts were not required for me to consider them. 

21  I agree. Indeed in Jackson, I found that judicial notice should be taken of the things that Professor 

James, Professor Owusu-Bempah, and Ms. Sibblis discuss in this report. At the same time, I recognize 

how important it is to have these issues concerning racism and discrimination explained well for the 

education of judges, lawyers, and the public. This report describes it very well. It is very well researched. 

I believe it to be so useful that I am attaching it as Appendix A to my reasons. It is invaluable to have 

such a report available for every judge on every sentencing of a Black offender. I found it to be so in 

mine. 

22  Also, I agree with the authors' conclusions. Although it is a lengthy series of passages, I will set out in 

full these conclusions: 

 

As documented above, Black Canadians present experiences are rooted in our country's history of 

colonialism, slavery and segregation. These systems, the latter of which existed well into the 20th century 

in Ontario, were premised on the idea that Black people are inherently inferior. These systems also served 

to structure the nature of early social relations in Canadian, while at the same time shaping the economic 

and political landscape. While White Canadians were provided opportunity to access good schools, good 

jobs and representation in political office, Black Canadians were largely relegated to the margins of 

Canadian society. 
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These early experiences of Black Canadians has informed the experiences of those that have come after 

them. Stereotypical notions about Black intellectual inferiority, the pathological nature of Black families 

and of Blacks' supposed innate propensity for crime, all rooted in this early period, continue to influence 

how Black people are treated today. The data documented above demonstrate that Black children are 

disproportionately removed from their families, due in part, to discrimination in child welfare 

assessments. Black children are deemed to be less academically inclined and thus streamed into non-

university tract programs. They are also subject to harsher discipline in schools which reduces their 

likelihood of graduation. In the employment sector, Black people face discrimination in hiring, and at 

times, earn less money for similar work performed by White Canadians, resulting in increased rates of 

unemployment and poverty. The increased representation of Black people in impoverished neighborhoods 

means that they have less access to good schools, community centers and health facilities. They are also 

exposed to the harsher forms of policing practiced in marginalized neighborhoods in response to problems 

of crime and violence. 

 

Importantly, Blacks' negative treatment by these institutions, and the disparate outcomes experienced 

within them, are cyclical and compounding. Indeed, increased exposure to the child welfare system 

reduces the chances of academic success, which reduces employability, thus increasing levels of poverty. 

These circumstances are passed from generation to generation. 

 

The data documented above also clearly demonstrate that Black Canadians, and young Black men in 

particular, keenly feel the discrimination they experience at the hands of the criminal justice system. 

Young Black Canadians are not only over-represented in stop, search and carding practices of local 

police, but they serve longer periods of time in pre-trial detention, resulting in longer periods of 

incarceration than are others charged with the same or similar crimes. Not surprisingly, as Owusu-

Bempah (2014) has found, Black male youth who perceive discrimination in policing also feel the same 

way about both the educational and employment sectors. Further, as Khenti (2013) notes, their 

experiences, personal and vicarious, with the criminal justice system contribute to the perception that they 

live "socially unjust lives." The conclusion is inescapable -- that young Black Canadians who view the 

system as unjust are less likely to believe they should abide by that system's rules. 

 

It is our opinion that the social circumstances of Black Canadians in general, and of Black male 

Torontonians in particular, should be viewed as criminogenic. Elevated levels of offending in the types of 

crime that typically come to the attention of the police (street crimes as opposed to white-collar and 

corporate crimes), combined with discrimination in the justice system itself have resulted in the gross 

over-representation of Black Canadians in our provincial and federal correctional systems. Whereas no 

one individual should be completely absolved of their own responsibility when it comes to offending 

behavior, the social realities that have produced or contributed to such behavior can be acknowledged, 

and serve to guide judicial decision making. 

 

Report # 2: "Social History of Kevin Morris." 

23  As I have said, Ms. Sibblis was the main author of this report. In this report, her stated goal was to 

provide me with information about you, Mr. Morris. It was also to provide me with her analysis as to the 

impact of systemic racism on your experience in and out of the justice system. The Crown objected to the 

admissibility of this report. She submitted that it is unclear what the scope of Ms. Sibblis's "expertise" 

was and the nature of the opinion she was offering. The Crown was also concerned about the reliability of 

this report. 
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24  I admitted this report. This is a sentencing hearing. Sentencing judges take a broader and more liberal 

view of the materials that should be admissible at such a hearing. This is vital since the goal is to arrive at 

a fit and proportionate sentence. The more I know about you and your crimes, the better can I arrive at 

such a fit sentence. This is particularly important when it comes to tackling the problem of the 

disproportionate imprisonment of Black offenders. If we cannot have resort to such materials, we will 

never begin to do better. 

25  In Jackson, I commented upon the use of such reports. In that case, it was called an "Impact of Race 

and Cultural Assessment". In this case, it is two reports. The one specifically about you is called the 

"Social History of Mr. Morris." It really does not matter what these reports are called. 

26  The Crown in Jackson did not object to my considering the report. The Crown objected here. There is 

nothing wrong in that. However, it is my view that such reports should not have to meet the strict 

requirements of the admissibility of "expert" evidence as the Crown argued, as it is set out in the legal 

cases. These reports serve a very different purpose. They provide personal, social, cultural, and historical 

context for the sentencing. In my opinion, to follow the type of exacting inquiry into their admissibility 

called for by the Crown would only serve as a systemic barrier to tackling the problem at hand. It will be 

yet another form of systemic racism. 

27  Ms. Sibblis is a very qualified social worker. She is also very knowledgeable in the area of anti-Black 

racism. Further, she interviewed Mr. Morris, his mother, and two other personal sources who have known 

him since childhood. She also had access to a wealth of school and medical documentation. These were 

also provided to me as a part of the sentencing record. Ms. Sibblis' report is over twenty pages long. In 

addition, it is supported by Report # 1, "Expert Report on Crime, Criminal Justice and the Experience of 

Black Canadians in Toronto, Ontario". I point all this out to show how thorough the reports presented to 

me are. Indeed, I will say in my many years as a judge, I have seldom come across so much information 

presented to me at a sentencing hearing in general let alone materials specific to the issue of anti-Black 

racism and a Black offender. 

28  I quickly want to say that it will do an injustice if my decision is read as somehow requiring the same 

diligence by the lawyers, quality of experts, or exhaustiveness of materials, before a sentencing judge can 

admit similar reports and/or take a more systemic approach in the sentencing of a Black offender. This is 

not required in other contexts. For example, our courts have now had much experience with Gladue 

reports. Gladue report writers come from varied backgrounds. They are trained to write such reports. The 

reports are different from case to case. To be truthful, some are better than others. That does not always 

have to do with the skill, training, or experience of the writer. Sometimes there is more information 

available. Sometimes the path for the analysis is clearer. However, judges do not demand an inquiry such 

as the Crown wished me to take in this case, before Gladue reports are admissible. To do that would 

overly complicate sentencing for no good reason. As I said, it would also be another form of systemic 

racism. Finally, we live in the real world of limited resources. There is a limit to what defence lawyers 

can bring to a single sentencing case amongst many. It should not be expected that they provide the kinds 

of materials that I have here. I certainly do not. But when I get this type of evidence, rather than putting 

up barriers to their admission, I gladly embrace them. 

29  I have little doubt that the criminal courts will welcome such reports. Let me note here that there was 

a pre-sentence report prepared in your case, Mr. Morris. The Crown rightfully points out that the Criminal 

Code gives a set of rules for their admission. Such statutory rules do not exist for a report like the one 

prepared by Ms. Sibblis. But the Criminal Code allows sentencing judges to get the appropriate materials. 

And the common law allows for judges to admit them and use them. 

30  Pre-sentence reports also offer a different view into a sentencing than your "Social History" does. 

Further, they too can suffer from institutional limits on resources and often are of uneven quality. I find 

that Ms. Sibblis's report to be much more detailed and useful than the pre-sentence report prepared for 
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you. I agree with your lawyers that the pre-sentence report is not good enough. Not good enough in 

sentencing a Black offender. Indeed, not very good regardless of who the offender is. 

31  So I admitted the "Social History of Mr. Morris", but with some qualifications. The first is how I use 

it. Like any other sentencing material, while admissible, what the authors say is subject to my 

determination of its usefulness in sentencing. I use my own independent evaluation of how systemic 

factors apply in your case. I am grateful for the analysis done by Ms. Sibblis, but I am not bound by it. I 

am free to disagree with what she says. 

32  The second has to do with the fairness of the process. I permitted the Crown to cross-examine Ms. 

Sibblis. In fact, I allowed her to cross-examine Professors James and Owusu-Bempah. They were both 

here in court. However, the Crown only wished to question Ms. Sibblis. Fairness required that she be 

given that chance before I was to make use of the report. 

33  In that cross-examination, the Crown pointed out that Ms. Sibblis had not done a report like this 

before although she had done similar work in her role as a clinical social worker. Ms. Sibblis only got her 

information about Mr. Morris's offences from his defence lawyer. The Crown asked Ms. Sibblis questions 

about what she knew about Mr. Morris's schooling, the involvement of CAS, and his medical conditions. 

Ms. Sibblis agreed that she had not reviewed other records like those of Ontario Works, CAS, or his jail 

records. She was also cross-examined on some of the comments Mr. Morris made to her. 

34  At the end of the day, I found Ms. Sibblis to be fair. She stated she believed it was important that Mr. 

Morris have a voice in his sentencing. But she was not an advocate for him. Ms. Sibblis correctly, in my 

view, felt that Mr. Morris's experiences had validity. She used the information she got to explain how the 

theory around anti-Black racism was relevant in Mr. Morris's case. 

35  She also had access to quite a lot of information. While she relied upon what others told her, I found 

nothing about what she was told to be significantly untrue or misleading. The Crown did not seek to 

impeach these sources of information. The defence provided me with a lot of original materials that 

confirmed these sources. A number of sources were interviewed and what they said was consistent with 

each other. 

36  In short, Ms. Sibblis is smart and thoughtful. I found her conclusions helped me. They were sound. 

They made sense. 

37  So what did Ms. Sibblis say? I now know quite a bit about you. You are now 26 years old. You are of 

Jamaican heritage. I know about your mother and father's very modest backgrounds in Jamaica and how 

they made their way to this country. Your father's death when you were only 7 years old had a very 

profound and negative impact on you. Your mother worked very hard to raise you and your much older 

half siblings. Your siblings were not home as you grew up. Often neither was your mother given the jobs 

she had; including labor jobs like a cafeteria worker. Sometimes she was on welfare. She did everything 

she could to be as good a mother as she could be for you. While she tried her best, you never had male 

role model in your life to look up to, as you say, to "become a man." There was once a young man that 

you looked up to as a boy. But he was taken from you. He was shot. 

38  Your school years were hard and challenging. You changed schools many times. You were absent a 

lot. You were disciplined often, sometimes with suspensions. Your mother felt you were treated unfairly. 

She felt she too was treated unfairly because she was Black. The school contacted the CAS at times. You 

were identified as having an intellectual disadvantage. You had behavioral issues including anger, 

anxiety, and impulsiveness. You were placed in a special needs school but you felt unsafe as you had to 

cross rivaling neighborhoods to get there every day. At one point, in 2009, you were incarcerated at the 

Roy McMurtry Youth Centre and were stabbed. You never graduated from high school although you tried 

to go back as an adult but had to stop attending classes due to another critical injury you suffered when 

you were stabbed walking in your neighborhood. You never worked after that stabbing. You did not do 
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the programs Ontario Works wanted you to do because you felt some neighborhoods were just not safe 

for you. 

39  The Crown argued that you had academic and behavioral problems and that it was not simply that you 

were being labelled or targeted by the school. While this may be correct, I am mindful of the issues raised 

in Report # 1 "Expert Report on Crime, Criminal Justice and the Experience of Black Canadians in 

Toronto, Ontario". I have no doubt there were some systemic failures in your education. Bluntly, you felt 

like a failure. Perhaps you were made to feel like a failure. You clearly did not feel you got the help you 

needed. Your mother has felt the same way about your education. I can safely conclude that you did not 

get the help you needed. 

40  Mr. Erin, the pastor of your Church, described the neighborhood you lived in as having a reputation 

for being dangerous. People who lived there struggled to get by as it was plagued with the typical issues 

that affect inner city public housing complexes. There is a lot of crime. Of various sorts. Your nickname 

around the neighborhood was "Scrappy", not because you enjoyed fighting, but because being small, you 

felt picked upon and had to stand up for yourself. You were involved in that Church and viewed it to be a 

safe haven for you and other youths. But by ten years of age you began to notice how many were dying in 

your neighborhood. Dying of violence. You did not have a lot of options. You decided you would live 

with it. That you would survive. Yet at the same time, you felt hopelessness. A hopelessness that you 

have admitted led to recklessness. A hopelessness from which there was no escape. That led to a feeling 

that a violent death potentially awaited you. 

41  Ms. Sibblis described the interactions between young Black men and the police in this same 

neighborhood. It is not a good relationship. There is no trust. Young Black men developed negative 

feelings towards the police. You, yourself, believed from your own experiences that the police were out to 

get you. You have long felt targeted by the police due to your Blackness. You regarded the police as 

uncaring and untrustworthy. They were not there to help you. 

42  In 2013, you were critically stabbed. As a result, your spleen and half of your pancreas were removed. 

You still suffer physical symptoms from this. You believe that someone who you felt to be a friend had 

set you up. In January of 2014, you were diagnosed by the psychiatrist of the Adult Mental Health Clinic 

at the North York General Hospital with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder ("PTSD") and paranoia with 

dysphoria and anxiety. You were never treated for the PTSD or paranoia. You reported to Ms. Sibblis that 

you do not feel you can find peace within yourself until you die. You cope by talking to your mother. You 

have few others in your life. Some of your friends have died, gone to prison, or become estranged while 

you have been in jail. 

43  What is more, I have learned about your character, Mr. Morris. From the people Ms. Sibblis talked to. 

It comes also from letters written on your behalf. As a result, I have a fuller picture of you. These people 

speak of many good qualities. About the goodness of your heart. Your kindness. Your loyalty. Your 

selflessness. Your ability to connect with people. Your empathy. Ms. Sibblis saw this too. But you are 

also a worrier. You do have a temper. You isolate yourself. 

44  You have also given some deeper thought to how Black people are sometimes treated differently. 

Why they seem to live in different neighborhoods. Why they don't seem to get the same chances as 

others. 

45  A recurring theme is how you make poor choices in friends. How you are influenced too easily by 

others. How you have a need to fit in. You seem to recognize the dangers of this now. But it seems 

despite your young age, you are showing this hopelessness that you cannot cure. Defeatism. That, Mr. 

Morris, is obviously not good. 

46  Ms. Sibblis assesses how anti-Black racism, education, socio-economic factors, mental health, social 

influences, and criminal justice involvement have affected you. How it has brought you here. Before me. 
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To be sentenced on these serious charges. I will explore this more in my own analysis. However, at this 

point, let me set out in full Ms. Sibblis's summary: 

 

From a young age, Mr. Morris was fatherless, and was subsequently raised by a single mother who 

worked long hours in an attempt to provide for her family. Mr. Morris also experienced the harsh realities 

posed by his living in social housing, and having been identified in his early years as "slow" and having 

behavioural issues. He was shuffled from school to school, faced violence from his peers, and 

experienced the stigmatization and associated behaviours from both his teachers and the police. Mr. 

Morris felt that he could not turn to his mother for guidance because "she had enough on her plate 

already"; he could not turn to his teachers or the police for guidance as they thought he was a lost cause; 

and he could not turn to his friends because most were in the same position as he. He is [sic] also felt that 

his lack of educational success, combined with the stigmatization of living in a "bad" neighborhood have 

limited his employment opportunities. 

 

Under the weight of anti-Black racism, Mr. Morris had little option than to live his life as best as he could 

having been influenced by the streets. His overall social circumstances, while not excusing his behaviour, 

have undeniably contributed to Mr. Morris being involved with the justice system today. 

 

Mr. Morris has also lived, and continues to live, in constant fear. He fears the police, other community 

members, friends and foes alike, rivals, unknown dangers, life, death. He fears fellow inmates. He fears 

for his mother's safety. Mr. Morris fears both freedom and incarceration. Mr. Morris's imagination for 

what he could become was significantly limited by fear, anxiety, and actual threats; it is not positively 

fostered as his suffering was not sufficiently tended to. 

 

At this time, it would be appropriate to provide him with the support and treatment he ought to have 

received long ago. Early intervention might well have changed Mr. Morris's trajectory and it appears as 

though anti-Black racism was a contributing factor in this omission. Since Mr. Morris shows empathy, 

and has many redeeming qualities, it is a reasonable expectation that he will respond well to mental health 

treatment. 

47  I wish to talk briefly about the pre-sentence report that was prepared for you. It is sparse. It was not 

very helpful to me. However, it is worth pointing out that the probation officer's conclusion is not that 

much different than that of Ms. Sibblis when it comes to your potential and what may have contributed to 

your offences: 

 

The nature of the current offences illustrate that the subject makes impulsive decisions that put him at risk 

of further trouble. The writer is aware of the seriousness of the current offences before the Court. It is the 

writer's opinion that the subject must begin to assess the above noted deficiencies and additionally 

negative peer affiliation and leisure/recreational activity. The subject should also consider addressing 

possible trauma and other health issues that he reported may be afflicting him. Given the subject's stated 

willingness to want to better himself and improve his behavior he may be able to begin living a 

productive and pro-social lifestyle if he elects to address the above noted deficiencies and overall areas of 

concern. 

 

C. ANALYSIS 

48  In arriving at a fit sentence, I am keenly aware that the sentencing principles of general deterrence and 

denunciation are most important for offences such as this. This is so even for first offenders. This is so for 

young Black men like you. This is so even when I apply the approach that I set out in Jackson. 
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49  We have a serious problem with gun crime. Reducing gun crime and its associated violence, is a long 

game. Effective solutions take time, money, and commitment. There is no one single solution in the short 

term. Many have recognized that tackling gun crime means getting at the roots. Investing in at-risk 

communities, addressing social and economic inequalities and disadvantage, supporting smart and fair 

policing with adequate resources, dismantling gangs and getting at the reasons why young people join 

them, stripping the obscene profits of illegal activities like the drug trade, and effectively treating societal 

ills such as addiction and mental illness. The list goes on and on. The problems are complex. And the 

answers are not easy. 

50  But the criminal justice system plays an important role. Not only to deter gun crime with fit sentences, 

but to make sure the criminal justice system commands the respect of the people who look to it for 

solutions. 

51  It seems like not a day goes by without the media reporting yet another gun tragedy. Sometimes very 

horrible ones. It happens in every neighborhood. It happens in my own. None are immune from gun 

violence. People are rightfully outraged and bewildered by it. They feel powerless in its onslaught. 

Afraid. It brings up some strong and very basic emotions in all of us. This gun violence has been with us 

for some time. I am afraid it will be with us for a while. The tide of fear in our communities rises and falls 

with the tragedies that come with gun violence. But when the tide of fear is high, we "feel" very strongly 

about gun crime. Because guns kill. Innocent victims die. Families are torn apart. Neighborhoods are 

gripped with pervasive insecurity. That grim reality pushes us to a one dimensional view of gun crime and 

those who commit them. It pushes judges to impose longer and longer sentences. 

52  My role is to give expression to that fear. To condemn the crime and those who do it. But it is not my 

role to give in to that fear. No matter how strongly it seizes the community's psyche. Reason must control 

emotion in sentencing. Because in our system, a sentence is not just about the crime. It must be also about 

the offender. It must be about the particular facts of the case. A sentence must be multi-dimensional. It 

must be proportionate. 

53  As well, we have a problem with the disproportionate imprisonment of African-Canadians. This too is 

a serious problem. Sometimes the solutions to these two problems may seem to clash with each other. 

Gun crime calling for stiffer punishment. Longer jail sentences. The other problem calling for more 

moderation. More restraint. More creative solutions when creative solutions are right. 

54  To balance these competing pressures and to arrive at a just sentence is not always easy. But in my 

belief, it would be wrong to only give consideration to general deterrence and denunciation; to sentence 

every offender to a significant penitentiary term no matter the circumstances. The law does not require 

that. I will not do so in your case, Mr. Morris. 

55  Before I get to the specifics of your case, I want to say a few words about some interplay between the 

sentencing principles of general deterrence and denunciation and the analysis presented in Jackson and, 

indeed, in the Gladue framework to sentencing. This is a bit legalistic. It may hold little interest to you. 

But in my opinion, it is worth saying. The question of how we can reconcile these principles in Jackson 

and Gladue with the requirements of sentencing serious crime has always troubled me. It has troubled 

others too. It is recognized that for some crimes, mitigating factors regarding the offender's responsibility 

is outweighed by the needs of general deterrence and denunciation. Put another way, any diminished 

moral blameworthiness that may exist in a case, is overborne by the need to send a message to others 

either to deter or to condemn the crime. This is particularly so for serious offences such as gun offences. 

56  However, when looked at in a principled manner, broader systemic factors such as racism and the 

effects of colonialism must surely have some impact upon the application of general deterrence and 

denunciation. It can impact upon on how we characterize the seriousness of the offence. Recognizing, as 

the law must, that individuals are held responsible for the acts they commit that breach the criminal law, 

the reality is that this choice to act may be constrained by an offender's life circumstances. This can 
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include the limited choices available to the offender due to discrimination or racism. The effects may be 

subtle but significant. They may be significantly influenced by history. They can become hardwired into 

our institutional practices. Over the lifetime of the offender, negative influences such as poverty, 

addiction, mental illness, neglect and abuse in childhood, disrupted family and social networks, and the 

denial of employment and social advancement can constrain this field of choice. It can also be adversely 

affected by the environment or community in which the offender was raised or presently lives; fragile 

communities that are under daily stress given their marginalization and in-cohesion. General deterrence of 

people who live in such circumstances and have experienced such lives is not a concept that should be 

applied in a rigid and simplistic way. 

57  I am not saying something new. These factors have been recognized in the law as being potentially 

relevant when assessing the moral blameworthiness of the offender. But in addition to this, they may have 

an effect upon the assessment of achieving the right balance between the needs of general deterrence and 

denunciation and other objectives of sentencing. 

58  Thus, I pose the question, is it right that we harshly deter and denounce the conduct of people who 

have been subject to such injustices by giving them stiffer sentences? Is it right to denounce their conduct 

when that conduct was constrained in choice; a constraint that was inequitably imposed upon them? 

59  I recognize that criminal judges have limited tools available to them to meet the objectives of 

sentencing. But the law does not say that systemic and background factors should play no role in the 

assessment of the seriousness of the crime and the weight to be given to general deterrence and 

denunciation. It is true that in some cases those factors may ultimately play only a little role in the 

sentence. But at other times, they should allow sentencing judges to view the concepts of general 

deterrence and denunciation with more subtlety and nuance. If viewed through a larger systemic lens, the 

needs of general deterrence and denunciation may be met with sentences of greater restraint. 

60  This subtlety and nuance may include analyzing these concepts with consideration of how they may 

play out in these communities. Sentences other than large periods of incarceration may not lose their 

deterrent or denunciatory effect given the nature of the community from which the offender comes. Long 

periods of incarceration may also fail to achieve those objectives in a meaningful way in certain 

communities. This is yet another layer of complexity that must be taken into account depending upon the 

circumstances. Thus, in the right case, a more creative sentence, shaped to the individual life experience 

of the particular offender, may still deter and denounce. 

61  All this leads me to say that the systemic information provided in your case, Mr. Morris, is important. 

It is relevant not only in terms of assessing the moral blameworthiness of your actions, but it may be 

useful with assisting with the characterization of how serious your crimes are and in the application of the 

principles of general deterrence and denunciation to your sentence. 

62  I believe that the law supports this perspective. Although the principles of general deterrence and 

denunciation continue to be recognized as the primary sentencing principles for serious offences, there is 

also an understanding that the principles of restraint, rehabilitation, and individual deterrence cannot be 

ignored exclusively in favor of general deterrence and denunciation. In addition, the objectives of 

denunciation and deterrence are not only met through the imposition of a long term period of 

incarceration but can take other forms. Finally, the effectiveness of incarceration as a deterrent itself has 

been questioned by the Supreme Court of Canada in cases such as R. v. Nur, 2015 SCC 15; [2015] 1 SCR 

773 and R. v. Proulx, 2000 SCC 5; [2000] 1 SCR 61. 

63  Having said this, let me now deal with your sentence Mr. Morris. As the Crown submits, there are 

aggravating factors to the offences. You had a 38 caliber revolver with five rounds in it. This is a 

dangerous handgun. You also had this on your person concealed in your jacket in public. 

64  I do want to do a more detailed analysis on a point that was argued by the Crown to be aggravating: 

your flight from the police when you were stopped initially with a group of young men. That flight 
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continued over a fence and into the parking lot of a mall. You threw away the gun. There are cases that 

have treated these sorts of facts as an aggravating factor. I do not disagree with those cases per se. But in 

this case I have been given much more information that puts this behavior into context. 

65  First are the systemic issues that have led to distrust between the police and Black men. These are set 

out in the reports. This has caused many Black men to fear their interactions with the police. In this case, 

there is specific information about your own past experience with the police and how you view them. You 

did not feel you would be fairly treated by them. I have little doubt that this all contributed to your 

impulsive reaction to take flight. It was not a considered action, but a reflexive one given the situation 

existing at the time. This fear was aggravated by the fact you collided with a police car as you ran. It also 

likely contributed to your ditching of the gun. I note that the gun was not thrown away into a place that 

was easily accessible to a passersby or innocents. It was left in an unused stairwell, concealed in a jacket, 

amidst a pile of debris and water. 

66  Giving your acts a contextual analysis in light of the wealth of evidence provided to me on this 

sentencing, I do not find this to be a weighty aggravating factor in your case. I appreciate that accused 

people should not flee from police. Especially carrying a loaded firearm. But it is understandable to me 

that you ran. It was not a coldly calculated act to escape but one based upon emotion and a state of mind 

that has been shaped both generally and specifically by the historical racism suffered by Blacks and by 

you. In other words, not every flight from the police should be treated the same. Here there is a 

connection in the evidence between your act of flight and the systemic factors. I find it would be wrong to 

punish you more severely for this. When I view how anti-Black racism and historical injustices have 

contributed to your actions, the needs of general deterrence and denunciation normally raised by this act 

of flight is tempered. Given that the choice you made to do so was affected by these factors, the moral 

blameworthiness of your actions is also lessened. 

67  In addition, in assessing the seriousness of the offences, when I look at potential aggravating factors 

that often exist in the case law, here, there is no evidence that your possession of the gun is connected 

with other crimes such as crimes of violence or drug trafficking. 

68  There are also some very traditional mitigating factors. You are a first offender. You were young 

when you committed these crimes. You were 22 years old. You have supportive family and friends. There 

is a side of you that speaks well to your rehabilitation. I have mentioned them before. Your warmth, 

kindness, and respectfulness. 

69  The Crown argued that you have no remorse. You did not plead guilty. The law is strict that I must 

not sentence you more harshly because of this. You have the right to a trial. But the law also recognizes 

that a guilty plea is a sign of remorse. In most, but not all cases, a guilty plea- being a sign of remorse and 

acknowledgment of responsibility- means that the prospects of rehabilitation is better, and that the 

offender's danger to society in the future is likely less. I say some but not all cases because sometimes a 

guilty plea has less weight when the Crown's case is overwhelming. 

70  I have been a judge long enough to know that having a trial does not always mean an offender has no 

remorse or does not take responsibility. On the other hand, I also know very well that for some offenders, 

a show of remorse just before sentencing is not real; it can be a "show" to avoid harsher punishment. 

71  I have taken all this into account. In your case Mr. Morris, I fully appreciate the substance of your 

testimony is that you denied possessing the gun. The jury did not believe you. Even in the application for 

a stay, I did not find you fully credible. 

72  However, Ms. Sibblis noted that you have regret about the choices you have made. You feel bad about 

the pain it has caused your mother. I also noted your testimony before me. There was a moment on the 

stay application when you could not carry on testifying. We had to take a break. I believe you were 

overwhelmed in that moment. I could see that. From everything that I know about you, from your conduct 

at trial and from the information given to me at this sentencing, you are far from a hardened criminal. All 
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of this is felt very deeply by you. I believe that you have real regret for your actions. It is not regret about 

getting caught or being punished. It is remorse for choosing the path that you did. 

73  I must take all the aggravating and mitigating factors into account and find a proportionate sentence. 

A fit one. One that will deter and denounce these serious crimes, but that will also give due respect to all 

the evidence presented at this hearing. 

74  As Ms. Sibblis, Professor Owusu-Bempah, and Professor James say, anti-Black racism has shaped 

your life in a way that has brought you into the criminal court. It shaped your mother's life as well. It has 

negatively impacted your opportunities in life to date. You lived in a poor neighborhood, with a number 

of socio-economic challenges. This was an environment that was affected by anti-Black racism. You 

yourself have wondered why Blacks seem to live a lot in certain neighborhoods. Yours was affected by 

danger in the streets, both real and perceived. You did not find a way out through the public education 

system. I have no doubt that anti-Black racism affected how you were treated in school. Ms. Sibblis notes 

this very persuasively. I am not saying that your teachers were racist, uncaring, or that you do not share 

responsibility. Rather, I am recognizing the studies that show systemically this racism exists and have not 

served Black children well. That failure in the education system makes a child vulnerable to becoming 

involved in the criminal justice system. Because your mother was working so much and the death of your 

father impacted you so hard, you became vulnerable to the bad influences of others. You are a follower 

and not a leader. Your feelings of frustration and powerlessness as you grew up in this environment made 

the possibility of possessing a gun real to you; something that given your life experiences, you decided 

that you wanted to do. 

75  These are systemic and case-specific factors that lessen your moral blameworthiness for this offence 

and soften the impact of general deterrence and denunciation in your particular case, Mr. Morris. They are 

relevant and compelling in my view. They are factors that tell me that I should choose the length of your 

sentence with the principle of restraint firmly in my mind. 

76  I appreciate not every young Black child who is subject to the same pressures as you, makes the 

choices you did. Nothing that I say here should be taken to mean that you did not have a moral choice 

when you committed these crimes. However, what I do say is that your choice was constrained by these 

forces. Social structures and societal attitudes that were born of colonialism, slavery, and racism have a 

very long reach. We must not forget this. Our memory of past injustices must be long enough to do justice 

in an individual case. 

77  Another important case-specific factor is that these anti-Black experiences aggravated your mental 

health. A medical clinician suggested you are living with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or PTSD. Given 

that you were attacked twice, once so badly you lost your spleen and part of a pancreas, I can fully accept 

that. You also suffered the loss of your father early in your life. You have suffered from fear and anxiety 

since you became aware of the type of environment you lived in at the age of ten. You have lost friends to 

violence. Black males are disproportionately victims of violence. Ms. Sibblis notes that the constant 

systemic barriers fostered a greater sense of hopelessness and desperation in you. You needed help to deal 

with this defeatist outlook, poor impulse and anger control, hyper-vigilance, anxiety, and fear. You did 

not get that help. I can only agree with this statement made by Ms. Sibblis: 

 

Being incarcerated within his skin, his urban neighbourhood, his schools, his life -- afflicted by occlusion, 

abjectness, and ineptitude, limited in his possibilities, could only add to Mr. Morris's sense of helplessness 

and despair. 

78  So why would you pick up a gun Mr. Morris? The factors that make up who you are, like everyone 

else, are numerous, complicated, and hard to trace. The same can be said for motivation. You never 

testified as to why you had this gun. But as I stated before, there is no evidence that you got it to commit a 

crime. The other evidence about who you are shows you are not a violent man or one with no regard for 
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laws or social rules. In the context of the evidence as a whole, I can understand why a man of your 

background, a young Black man, suffering from trauma, with such limited opportunities, with feelings of 

despair, being influenced by others, may think that I will have that gun. I know that it is not mitigating 

when people carrying illegal guns for self-defence. That does not lessen the seriousness of the crime or 

the responsibility of the offender. Your case is different in my view. I can see more clearly the path that 

has led you here. I understand it. When I look at it, especially your mental health condition that may have 

made you vulnerable to taking that gun, as influenced by the systemic factors that surrounded you and 

your life, I find it lessens the blameworthiness of your actions. There is less need to denounce your 

specific crime especially when the gun was not used by you at all in a bad way. Deterring others who 

might be in a similar situation as you are can be done by something different than a penitentiary jail 

sentence. 

79  This brings me to my sentence. I find that in this case a sentence of 15 months is the fit and 

proportionate sentence. This sentence will deter and denounce. It should not be forgotten that I am 

imposing a jail sentence on a young first offender. While not the longest given for this kind of case, it still 

is a significant reformatory sentence. Given the particular circumstances of your case, I find that the 

sentence will deter others. It will send a message that illegal gun possession will not be accepted. But it 

will also show those who are aware of the facts of your case that those important sentencing objectives 

can be reached without an undue heavy hand, but rather by punishment that is measured. Not handed out 

blindly or excessively. Based only upon fear. But one that can begin to address, one small step at a time, 

the problem of the disproportionate incarceration of Black offenders. 

80  I wish to make one thing clear. I am very well aware of the cases that point towards sentences of 3 

years and higher for gun offences that are on the criminal end of the spectrum, regardless of mitigating 

factors that might exist. But I also know that sentencing ranges are guidelines. Although an important 

tool, it is but one that should guide me in my task. 

81  To support my decision, I will list a number of cases given to me by your lawyers. They deal with 

similar offences. Usually it is not very helpful to simply list the names of cases. Each case is unique. But I 

do so to counter any criticism that anything less than a penitentiary sentence is wrong. It is not wrong in 

every case. It very much depends on the facts of the case. Sentencing must always be an individual 

process. In these cases judges gave sentences of 1 year, 15 months, 18 months, just under 2 years. Some 

of these sentences were permitted to be served in the community rather than in jail. The cases are: R. v. 

Ishmael, 2014 ONCJ 136; R. v. Garton, 2018 ONSC 544; R. v. Rutledge, 2015 ONSC 6625; R. v. 

Shunmuganathan, 2016 ONCJ 519; R. v. Nuttley, 2013 ONCJ 727; R. v. Kelsy, [2008] O.J. No. 3879; R. 

v. Cadienhead, [2015] O.J. No. 3125; R. v. Williams, [2011] O.J. No. 3352 (S.C.J.); R. v. Brown, [2006] 

O.J. No. 4681 (S.C.J.); R. v. Carranza, [2004] O.J. No. 6041 (S.C.J.). 

82  Now I want to talk about that elephant in the room. I know you are in custody on other charges. What 

those charges are were not explained to me by either the Crown or your lawyers. However, I do know 

from some of the materials filed what the charges are said to be. Of course, there is a charge of breaching 

your bail. There are also some other offences. But they are not gun offences. Your surety surrendered 

your bail so you are in custody on the charges I am sentencing you for. To someone hearing this, I am 

sure they will say you have not behaved well while on bail. They may be right. But you are presumed 

innocent of these alleged new offences. I am sentencing you as a first offender. Someone without a 

criminal record. The new charges do not change that. The presumption of innocence is the foundation of 

our criminal justice system. While it may be hard for many to understand, I cannot let that foundation be 

eroded or chipped away by taking into account the new charges. 

83  But let me be real for a moment. The new charges does mean that there are grounds to believe that 

your time while on bail on these charges have not gone smoothly. Some may question why I am giving 
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you leniency. For a 15-month sentence is a lenient sentence. Some may argue that you are not worthy. 

That you have failings. That you have not yet shown to have turned your life around. 

84  In my opinion, we have to get past this idea of waiting for the perfect person to be lenient. Waiting for 

the most benevolent soul by the standards of the privileged and the few, before we decide to extend 

consideration for leniency. For we may be waiting a long time. The young man who makes the choice to 

pick up a loaded illegal handgun will not likely be a product of a private school upbringing who has the 

security of falling back upon upper middle class family resources. Rather, he is likely to be a product of 

oppression, despair, and disadvantage. Likely he is someone who cannot turn his life around on a dime 

even if he wanted to. In short, he is you, Mr. Morris. 

85  So in the final analysis, what makes this sentencing different from other cases where leniency was not 

given is that I have been given a wealth of information to sentence you. Information that can be used to 

take further steps to deal with the over-incarceration of Black people in this country. 

 

D. THE CHARTER VIOLATIONS 

86  I will now turn my attention to another element of your case that is relevant to your sentencing. 

Before your trial began, I heard an application from your lawyers to stay the charges against you based on 

violations of your Charter rights that happened during your detention and arrest. I did not stay the 

charges. But I did find violations of your Charter rights. I found that your right not to be deprived of your 

security of the person except in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice was violated when 

D.C. Moorcroft struck you with his police car, and that your right to counsel was violated when P.C. 

Keeler continued to question you after you had asked to speak to a lawyer. The reasons for my decision is 

fully explained in my ruling R. v. Morris, [2017] O.J. No. 3882; 2017 ONSC 4298. In those reasons I 

found that a sentence reduction would be a good remedy for these violations. 

87  The Crown argued that these Charter violations are minor and no reduction should be given. Your 

lawyer argued that you should get a reduction. When I asked her how much of a reduction she was asking 

for, she said thirty days. It appeared to me at the time that this was an arbitrary number that she had come 

up with on the spot. As I will explain, I find you should get mitigation. Indeed, as you know, I found 

mitigation should be higher than what your lawyer asked for. 

88  It is true that I said in my decision that the violations were "relatively minor". However, that was in 

the context of a stay being asked for. The test for a stay is very high. It is not given very often. So when I 

said it was relatively minor, I was saying that it was not serious enough to stay the charges against you. 

However, I clearly stated that I felt they were serious enough to reduce your sentence. 

89  Dealing with the violation of the right to counsel, I found that P.C. Keefer did not ask many questions. 

I also found that your answers were not like confessions or anything of that sort. However, couple of the 

questions were intended to get evidence that could support the prosecution. Otherwise, there was no 

reason for P.C. Keefer to ask why you had run or how you had lost your shoe. There was no other reason 

why the officer carefully noted down the questions and answers. While the evidence he actually got was 

not of much importance, P.C. Keefer should not have asked those questions. This is not new law. This is 

law that has been around a great while. Every police officer is expected to know it. I am sure P.C. Keefer 

did. When a detained person asks to speak to a lawyer after being given his right to counsel and before he 

gets a reasonable chance to do so, except for some exceptional case, questioning must stop. The right to 

counsel is a very important right under our Charter. So while I appreciate this is not the most serious 

violation given the limited questioning and the answers obtained, it is not a trivial breach. It was also not 

done in good faith as the law defines that term. P.C. Keefer should have known better. 

90  The more serious of the two violations was what D.C. Moorcroft did. Mr. Morris, you ran from the 

police through the parking lot when they first came upon you. To that extent you played a part in the 

injury you suffered when you were struck by D.C. Moorcroft's car. But while I did find that he was not 
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trying to deliberately run you down, I also found that you did not simply run into his car as D.C. 

Moorcroft claimed. D.C. Moorcroft was trying to cut you off at the pass. He was driving carelessly. He 

made a deliberate choice to drive the way he did. He may not have wanted to hit you with his car, but he 

wanted to stop you from running. He saw you as he drove his car. It is not as if you suddenly appeared 

out of nowhere. I found his actions were aggressive. The way he was driving, it was foreseeable that 

something dangerous could happen. You were on foot and vulnerable to that car. 

91  What made it particularly bad is that even on his own evidence, D.C. Moorcroft was not going to 

arrest you. He was just going to detain you for further investigation. This is not a very good reason for 

driving the way he did. It was foreseeable that something awfully tragic could have happened. 

Thankfully, it did not. But you did suffer an injury to your foot. You were clearly in pain. After the 

adrenaline of the chase and arrest wore off, that pain overwhelmed you, as the video of you in the police 

cruiser showed. You were taken to the hospital. You received a soft cast and crutches. While, fortunately, 

you did not suffer lasting injury, I cannot ignore the pain and suffering that was caused to you by D.C. 

Moorcroft's actions. 

92  I also find that the anti-Black racism evidence presented on the sentencing is relevant in assessing the 

weight I should give this. Racism can operate very subtly. It can be there lurking in the background of 

people's minds, unconsciously influencing their judgment and making them act in certain ways towards 

certain people. 

93  I want to be clear that I am not painting the police with the brush of overt racism in this case. I do not 

have the evidence to support that. But I am troubled. If I asked myself: If it was someone other than a 

young Black man running away from the police that night, would D.C. Moorcroft have driven in the 

aggressive way that he did? Would Mr. Morris and the car have collided? I am troubled because in all 

honesty, I cannot conclude it would have happened in the same way. 

94  It is also important that I look at these violations from your point of view. As a young Black man who 

has not had good interactions with the police, and who sees the police with mistrust and fear. The 

interaction that night will do little to change this. 

95  I find that these factors are related to your offences and to you. This is not a remedy that I am granting 

under the Charter. Rather, they are relevant considerations to the sentencing framework in the Criminal 

Code. These violations are connected in time to the crime you committed. They are relevant to my 

assessment of the gravity of your actions, in particular, the flight from the police. There was real physical 

harm suffered by you. I cannot condone the police officer's actions. All of this supports mitigation of your 

15-month sentence. 

96  I appreciate that I must not mitigate your sentence to the point where it becomes disproportionate to 

the gravity of the offence or your moral blameworthiness. I do not believe I have. A mitigation in the 

amount of 3 months is in keeping with the facts of the violations, the sentencing principles, and the case 

law that has given me the discretion to do this. It is also proportionate to the gravity of your offence and 

your own moral blameworthiness. 

 

E. CONCLUSION 

97  After mitigation for the Charter violations, I have sentenced you to a jail sentence of 12 months. You 

have done a lot of dead time. The sentence will be based upon the credit you will receive for that dead 

time. I will credit you 1.5 to 1 for that pre-trial custody. The evidence shows that you received no real 

programming, had a difficult time in jail, and at times experienced physical discomfort in jail due to your 

medical conditions. You also did not receive consideration for parole or remission while in pre-trial 

custody. I find it right to give this enhanced credit. Therefore, 243 days of pre-trial custody will be used 

up. You will be sentenced to a further 1 day in jail on each charge concurrently. I also made a DNA order, 

s. 109 weapons prohibition, and the forfeiture order. 
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98  I placed you on probation for 18 months. The counseling and programming you are to follow while on 

this probation included the culturally appropriate ones recommended by Ms. Sibblis. I attached these 

programs and organizations as a schedule to your probation order. These are designed to assist you in 

your rehabilitation and to address the issues that got you to this place in your life. 

99  Let me end by repeating the final words I said to you in court: 

 

Mr. Morris, I don't know what the future's going to hold for you, immediate or long term future. 

Immediate future, I fear you're most likely to return to your cell in Maplehurst and your immediate 

surroundings may not change very much, in your eyes. At least may not for awhile. But, you will get 

released at some point. But, what I hope my decision does give you, Mr. Morris is hope. That's something 

I don't think you have had a lot of in your past. And certainly not a lot in your current situation. 

 

Life is a struggle. You can take a look at your mom's life. What she's accomplished despite those 

struggles. And it is more of a struggle for some than for others. You know. Let's be frank. You know. 

You've struggled more than others that you've known. So has your family. 

 

But hope can be a very powerful thing, Mr. Morris. It can be kind of like an anchor when all of that 

struggle that you're suffering from in life is buffeting you around. 

... 

So I do hope the future brings better things for you, Mr. Morris. And we, judges, can take chances on 

people sometimes. Within the limits of the law. And I'm taking a chance on you. Because I do believe that 

you are a better and stronger person than the facts of these offences show you to be. So, I hope you are 

strong enough to resist those forces that will bring you potentially back into jail when you are released. 

All right, Mr. Morris, thank you. 

S.S. NAKATSURU J. 

 

 

 

 


